### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL A. TRICARICHI,

Appellant,

v.

COÖPERATIEVE RABOBANK U.A., UTRECHT-AMERICA FINANCE CO. and SEYFARTH SHAW LLP,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Sep 19 2017 01:20 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Supreme Courcles & Oppreme Court

District Court Case No. A-16-735910-B

### APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Department XV Clark County, Nevada Hon. Joe Hardy, District Court Judge

### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Mark A. Hutchison (4639)
Michael K. Wall (2098)
Todd W. Prall (9154)
HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, LLC
10080 West Alta Drive, Suite 200
Las Vegas, NV 89145
702-385-2500
702-385-2086 (fax)
mhutchison@hutchlegal.com

### I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal is from a final order – certified pursuant to NRCP 54(b) and entered May 1, 2017 – dismissing the three respondents from the case below on personal jurisdiction grounds and denying Appellant jurisdictional discovery.

(App. Vol. 9 at APP 1947)<sup>1</sup>

The basis for the Supreme Court's appellate jurisdiction is NRAP 3A(b)(1) regarding final judgments. Pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1), "a notice of appeal must be filed after entry of a written judgment or order, and no later than 30 days after the date that written notice of entry of the judgment or order appealed from is served." The Notice of Entry of Order was filed and served on May 2, 2017. (App. Vol. 9 at APP 1952-54) Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on May 25, 2017. (*Id.* at APP 1960)

### II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(7), because this case originated in business court; however, Appellant submits that this matter should be retained by the Supreme Court as one raising a question of statewide public importance under NRAP 17(a)(11). In particular, this matter, which arises from the grant of two motions for dismissal on personal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations to "App. \_\_\_\_" are to the Joint Appendix submitted in this matter.

jurisdiction grounds, raises the question of whether the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Walden v. Fiore*, 134 S.Ct. 1115 (2014), redefined the permissible scope of specific personal jurisdiction for this State's courts in intentional tort cases, and in so doing overruled prior precedent of the Nevada Supreme Court, including *Davis v. Eighth Jud. Dist.*, 97 Nev. 332 (1981) (holding that there is personal jurisdiction in Nevada over defendants who participate in a civil conspiracy that targets, defrauds and injures a Nevada resident). This issue was raised in the briefing and oral argument below and resolved in the District Court's orders dismissing Respondents from the case. (*See, e.g.*, App. Vol. 1 at APP 0181, Vol. 7 at APP 1417-22, 1479-82, Vol. 8 at APP 1842-45, Vol. 9 at APP 1893-96, 1914-16.)

The reach of the judicial authority of this State is a significant question that is best resolved in a conclusive manner before this Court. All Nevadans would be affected by an appellate decision regarding the District Court's rulings, which, if allowed to stand, would severely limit the ability of Nevada residents to seek a judicial remedy in Nevada when a foreign person or entity, either directly or via participation in an illegal conspiracy, reaches into Nevada and intentionally causes them harm here. Such a result would seem to run counter to the jurisprudence of both this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court. *See, e.g., Trump v. Eighth. Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 109 Nev. 687, 703, 857 P.2d 740, 750 (1993) ("Where possible, a Nevada

resident should be able to obtain judicial redress in the most convenient, cost-effective manner....") (finding Nevada to be the appropriate jurisdiction); *Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz*, 471 U.S. 462, 473 (1985) ("A State generally has a 'manifest interest' in providing its residents with a convenient forum for redressing injuries inflicted by out-of-state actors."). Either way, though, it is important for all of the State to have a clear and decisive resolution of the reach of this State's jurisdiction. This Court, rather than the Court of Appeals, is the appropriate forum to reach such a decisive resolution.

### III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether defendants who purposefully reached out to, interacted with and injured a Nevada resident in Nevada are subject to the specific personal jurisdiction of the Nevada courts in a case brought by the Nevada resident arising from those actions.
- 2. Whether defendants who participated in a civil conspiracy that targeted, defrauded and injured a Nevada resident are subject to the specific personal jurisdiction of the Nevada courts in a case brought by the Nevada resident arising from that conspiracy.
- 3. In the alternative, whether the District Court erred in denying Appellant jurisdictional discovery.

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff/Appellant Michael Tricarichi, a Nevada resident and sole

### A. Nature of the Case

shareholder of a cellular telephone business, sold all his shares in that company to a third party, Fortrend International, LLC ("Fortrend"), which represented, among other things, that the transaction would have certain legitimate tax benefits. Unbeknownst to Mr. Tricarichi, those representations were false. Defendant/Respondent Coöperatieve Rabobank U.A. ("Rabobank") and its affiliate, defendant/respondent Utrecht-America Finance Co. ("Utrecht") – knowingly concealing from Appellant that the transaction was improper for tax purposes – reached out to Appellant in Nevada and induced him to agree to certain conditions so that the transaction could close. Further participating in the fraud upon Appellant, Rabobank and Utrecht – in return for a substantial fee – also loaned Fortrend the lion's share of the purchase price and served as the key conduit for the tens of millions of dollars that changed hands when the transaction closed. Defendant/Respondent Seyfarth Shaw LLP ("Seyfarth"), a law firm, took part in the fraud committed upon Appellant by providing Fortrend an opinion letter blessing certain illegal steps that Fortrend would take in effectuating the fraudulent scheme. Seyfarth knew these steps to be illegitimate for tax purposes but blessed them regardless – also in return for a substantial fee. As a result of Respondents'

actions, Appellant was forced to defend himself before the IRS and in Tax Court, and was found liable for millions of dollars in back taxes, penalties and interest. As alleged in Appellant's complaint, Respondents' actions constitute aiding and abetting fraud, conspiracy and violations of Nevada's racketeering statute. Respondents all moved to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. Appellant opposed these motions and, in the alternative, also sought jurisdictional discovery. The district court denied Appellant jurisdictional discovery, granted Respondents' motions, and certified its orders as final pursuant to NRCP 54(b).

# B. Course of the Proceedings

Appellant filed his Complaint against Respondents (and two other defendants not party to this appeal) on April 29, 2016. (App. Vol. 1 at APP 0001) Seyfarth accepted service of the Summons and Complaint on May 16, 2016. (*Id.* at APP 0042) Rabobank and Utrecht accepted and acknowledged service of the Summons and Complaint on August 26, 2016. (*Id.* at APP 0158)

Seyfarth moved to dismiss the Complaint on July 5, 2016, arguing that the Nevada district court did not have personal jurisdiction over Seyfarth. (App. Vol. 1 at APP 0043) Appellant responded to Seyfarth's motion on August 26, 2016, arguing, *inter alia*, that there was specific personal jurisdiction over Seyfarth in Nevada in light of Seyfarth's participation in a civil conspiracy from which this case arises and which targeted, defrauded and injured Appellant, a Nevada

-5-

resident. (*Id.* at APP 0160) In the alternative, Appellant sought jurisdictional discovery. (*Id.* at APP 0182) After Seyfarth filed a reply on September 28, 2016, the District Court heard oral argument on November 16, 2016. (App. Vol. 5 at APP 1131, Vol. 7 at 1409)

Rabobank and Utrecht moved to dismiss the Complaint on October 19, 2016, also arguing that the Nevada district court did not have personal jurisdiction over them. (App. Vol. 6 at APP 1146) Appellant responded to Rabobank and Utrecht's motion on December 7, 2016, arguing that there was specific personal jurisdiction over these Respondents in Nevada in light of their intentionally reaching out to Nevada and Appellant by, among other things, insisting that Appellant open multiple Rabobank accounts for himself and his company, and corresponding with Appellant in order to accomplish this; and in light of these Respondents' participation in the broader civil conspiracy from which this case arises, which targeted, defrauded and injured Appellant in Nevada. (App. Vol. 7 at APP 1463) In the alternative, Appellant counter-moved for jurisdictional discovery. (Id. at APP 1463) After Rabobank and Utrecht filed a reply on January 13, 2017, the District Court heard oral argument on January 18, 2017. (App. Vol. 9 at APP 1862, 1874)

# C. Disposition Below

The District Court denied Appellant jurisdictional discovery and granted Seyfarth's motion to dismiss on December 16, 2016. (App. Vol. 8 at APP 1840-48) Thereafter the District Court also denied Appellant jurisdictional discovery and granted Rabobank and Utrecht's motion to dismiss on February 7, 2017.<sup>2</sup> (App. Vol. 9 at APP 1908-19) After Appellant moved for certification and the certification motion was briefed and argued, the District Court certified both rulings as final orders pursuant to NRCP 54(b) on May 1, 2017.<sup>3</sup> (*Id.* at APP 1935-59)

### V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

# A. Appellant Tricarichi and Respondents Rabobank, Utrecht and Seyfarth

Appellant, Michael A. Tricarichi, has been a resident of Las Vegas, Nevada since May 2003. (Cmplt. ¶ 9 – App. Vol. 1 at APP 0005); Tricarichi Aff. ¶ 3 – App. Vol. 1 at APP 0188) After moving to Nevada, Mr. Tricarichi, the sole shareholder of Westside Cellular, Inc. ("Westside"), sold his Westside shares in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Rabobank and Utrecht also moved for dismissal on alternative grounds, but the District Court denied this portion of their motion without prejudice as moot. (App. Vol. 6 at APP 1161-65, Vol. 9 at APP 1917)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In addition to ruling that there was no specific or conspiracy jurisdiction over Seyfarth, the District Court also found that there was no general jurisdiction over that party. Appellant is not appealing the ruling as to general jurisdiction. Appellant did not contend below that there was general jurisdiction over Rabobank or Utrecht.

what is now known as a "Midco" transaction. (Cmplt.  $\P\P$  24-54 – App. Vol. 1 at APP 0009-21) Defendants' wrongdoing in connection with the transaction caused Mr. Tricarichi to suffer millions of dollars in tax and other liabilities that he otherwise would not have faced. (*Id.*  $\P\P$  9, 75-80 – APP 0009, 0028-30)

Respondent Rabobank, formerly known as Coöperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank, B.A., is a multinational banking and financial services company organized as a Dutch cooperative, with principal branches in New York, New York and Utrecht, Netherlands. (Cmplt. ¶ 11 − App. Vol. 1 at APP 0005; App. Vol. 7 at APP 1578) Rabobank and its consolidated subsidiaries (which include Utrecht) serve more than 10 million customers in 48 countries including the U.S., and as of December 31, 2015, had total assets of €670 billion (\$712 billion). (App. Vol. 7 at APP 1567, 1578) Rabobank has numerous offices throughout the U.S. (*Id.* at APP 1568-75)

During the period relevant to the complaint, Rabobank's business included financing and facilitating Midco transactions promoted by third parties including Fortrend International, LLC ("Fortrend") and Midcoast Credit Corp.

("Midcoast"). (Cmplt. ¶ 11 – App. Vol. 1 at APP 0005) Rabobank purposefully did business with Appellant in Las Vegas, Nevada in connection with such a transaction. (*Id.*; Tricarichi Aff. ¶¶ 13-19 – App. Vol. 7 at APP 1495-96)

Rabobank and Utrecht promoted and made the transaction possible by moving

funds through Appellant's and other accounts and by loaning Fortrend the lion's share of the purchase price for Appellant's company, in return for a substantial fee – all along knowing that the transaction was improper for tax purposes.

(Cmplt. ¶¶ 4, 11-12, 44-52, 54, 97-123 – App. Vol. 1 at APP 0004-06, 0015-21, 0033-38)

Respondent Utrecht, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rabobank, is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in New York. (Cmplt. ¶ 12 – App. Vol. 1 at APP 0006) Utrecht was a subsidiary via which Rabobank financed transactions promoted by Fortrend, Midcoast and related entities. (*Id.*) Utrecht loaned Fortrend the vast majority of the purchase price for Appellant's stock. (Cmplt. ¶¶ 4, 11-12, 44-52, 54, 97-123 – APP 0004-06, 0015-21, 0033-38) Utrecht's subsidiaries include Rabobank, N.A., a national banking association based in California, and Rabo AgriFinance, LLC, which is registered to do business in Nevada. (App. Vol. 7 at APP 1578, 1585) Utrecht is the Manager of Rabo AgriFinance, LLC. (*Id.* at APP 1585)

Respondent Seyfarth is a law firm that facilitated the Midco transaction into which Appellant was drawn by issuing – as it did numerous other times – a bogus tax opinion letter to an affiliate of Fortrend which purchased the Westside shares.

(Cmplt. ¶¶ 5, 13, 59-72 – App. Vol. 1 at APP 0004, 0006, 0023-28) By doing so,

Seyfarth conspired with its co-defendants and others, aided and abetted fraud, and engaged in racketeering. (*Id.*  $\P$ 97-121 – APP 0033-38)

### B. Midco Transactions, Respondents and Notice 2001-16

"Midco" or "intermediary" transactions, a type of abusive tax shelter, were widely promoted during the late 1990s and early 2000s. (Cmplt. ¶ 24 – App. Vol. 1 at APP 0009) The IRS has listed Midco transactions as "reportable transactions" for federal income tax purposes, meaning that the IRS considers them, and substantially similar transactions, to be improper and abusive tax-avoidance mechanisms. (*Id.*) Fortrend was a leading promoter of Midco-type transactions, actively marketing and soliciting numerous such transactions that were, years later, rejected by the tax courts. (*Id.*)

Midco-type transactions were generally marketed and promoted to shareholders – like Mr. Tricarichi – of closely held C corporations with potentially large taxable gains. (Cmplt. ¶ 25 – App. Vol. 1 at APP 0009) Promoters of Midco transactions targeted such shareholders and offered a purported solution to "double taxation," that is, the taxation of gains at both the corporate and individual shareholder levels. (*Id.*) Generally speaking, Midco transactions proceeded as follows: First, an "intermediary company," or "midco," affiliated with the promoter – typically a shell company, often organized offshore – purchased the shares of the target company, and thus its tax liability. (*Id.*) After acquiring the

shares and the imbedded tax liability, the intermediary company engaged in a second step that was supposed to offset the target's realized gains and eliminate the corporate-level tax. (*Id.*) This second step, unbeknownst to the selling shareholder(s), was itself an improper tax-avoidance maneuver, frequently a "distressed asset/debt," or "DAD," tax shelter. (*Id.*) This was the case with the deal that Mr. Tricarichi was drawn into, where Seyfarth made the DAD scheme possible, as further discussed below.

To draw Mr. Tricarichi and others like him into such transactions, Midco promoters like Fortrend (which is now defunct) represented to the target company's shareholders that they could legitimately net more for their shares than would otherwise be the case absent the intermediary transaction. (Cmplt. ¶¶ 15, 25 – App. Vol. 1 at APP 0007, 0009) As happened with Appellant's transaction, however, such representations often proved, years later, to be false. (*Id.* ¶ 26 – APP 0009-10) As set forth in the Complaint, Appellant later found himself "holding the bag" in late 2015 after what was promoted to him by Fortrend and facilitated by Respondents and the other Defendants resulted in substantial tax liabilities and penalties for Appellant personally. (*Id.* ¶¶ 75-80 – APP 0028-30)

Rabobank, in particular, frequently partnered with Fortrend in executing Midco deals, and had done dozens of transactions with Fortrend prior to Appellant's transaction. (Cmplt. ¶ 44 – App. Vol. 1 at APP 0014; App. Vol. 7 at

APP 1543 (Rabobank document noting that "We have entered into various acquisition financing transactions with Fortrend over the past five years, all of which have been concluded satisfactorily.")) From 1996 to 2003, Fortrend promoted almost one hundred Midco transactions, and worked closely with Rabobank to obtain financing for many of those transactions. (Cmplt. ¶ 45 – App. Vol. 1 at APP 0015-16) In Appellant's case, of the \$34.6 million agreed purchase price for Westside's stock, \$29.9 million came from Rabobank, via Utrecht. (*Id.*) (The remainder was loaned by another Fortrend affiliate, Moffat.) (*Id.*)

During the years 1998 – 2002, Rabobank (via subsidiaries including Utrecht) financed a total of 88 Midco transactions, at the pace of about 18 transactions per year. (Cmplt. ¶ 49 – App. Vol. 1 at APP 0017-18) Rabobank earned considerable and attractive fees via the loans, which ranged in amount between \$6 million and \$260 million, and were mostly for terms of only one to three days. (*Id.*) At the time, Rabobank was experiencing difficulty in other areas of its business, and opportunistically looked at the Midco financing transactions as "easy money" – short term loans with high yield and no credit risk. (*Id.*)

Notwithstanding multiple representations to Appellant that the Fortrend transaction was proper under the tax laws, Fortrend, Rabobank, Utrecht and the other defendants actually knew that, on January 18, 2001, the IRS had issued Notice 2001-16. (Cmplt. ¶ 56 – App. Vol. 1 at APP 0022) The Notice describes

transactions where a corporation disposes of substantially all of its assets and then the corporation's shareholders sell their stock to another party who seeks favorable tax treatment. (Id.) Notice 2001-16 states that any transactions that are the same as, or substantially similar to, those described in the Notice are "listed transactions." (Id.) Listed transactions are deemed by the IRS to be abusive tax shelters that may result in penalties and other consequences. (Id.) Fortrend, Rabobank, Utrecht and the other defendants failed to properly advise Appellant about the 2001 Tax Notice and its significance for the transaction promoted to him. (Id. ¶¶ 57-58 – APP 0022-23)

Rabobank and the other defendants thus failed despite the fact that, in or about October 2002 – that is, almost a year before the transaction involving Appellant closed – Rabobank determined that many if not all of the Midco transactions in which it previously participated were listed transactions as defined by the IRS. (Cmplt. ¶ 51 – App. Vol. 1 at APP 0020) As a result, the number of Midco transactions executed by Rabobank after October 2002 decreased significantly. (*Id.*) Rabobank took part in only five Midco financing transactions in 2003, one of those being Appellant's. (*Id.*) In 2004, Rabobank undertook only one Midco financing transaction, its last. (*Id.*) A Rabobank internal audit further found in 2005 that Rabobank's internal controls were inadequate in numerous respects with respect to the Midco transactions. (*Id.*) The audit found, among

other things, that it was at least "questionable" whether Midco promoters like Fortrend could be described as "reputable" companies with which Rabobank should be doing business. (*Id.*) Rabobank would have stopped financing Midco transactions entirely after October 2002 were it not for the fact that it did not want to harm its existing relationships with Midco promoters like Fortrend. (*Id.*)

### C. The Remaining Defendants and Third Parties

Respondents' co-defendants, and a brief summary of their respective roles in the case, are as follows:

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