Case No. 73175

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

MICHAEL A. TRICARICHI,

Appellant,

VS.

COÖPERATIEVE RABOBANK U.A., UTRECHT-AMERICA FINANCE CO. AND SEYFARTH SHAW LLP,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Oct 19 2017 11:53 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Department XV Clark County, Nevada

The Honorable Joe Hardy, District Judge District Court Case No. A-16-735910-B

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

DAN R. WAITE (SBN 4078)
LEWIS ROCA ROTHGERBER CHRISTIE LLP
3993 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169
(702) 949-8200
dwaite@lrrc.com

CHRIS PAPARELLA
(Admitted Pro Hac Vice)
HUGHES HUBBARD & REED LLP

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court correctly determined it could not exercise personal jurisdiction over Rabobank and Utrecht under Walden v. Fiore, 134 S. Ct. 1115 (2014) because their only alleged link to Nevada was their knowledge that Mr. Tricarichi had a Nevada address. Under Walden, the conduct of Rabobank and Utrecht, not that of Mr. Tricarichi, must form the necessary connection with Nevada that justifies the exercise of jurisdiction. The District Court also correctly rejected Mr. Tricarichi's argument that there was jurisdiction pursuant to Davis v. Eighth Judicial Dist. of Nev., 629 P.2d 1209 (Nev. 1981) because Mr. Tricarichi was injured in Nevada by Rabobank and Utrecht's alleged participation in an outof-state conspiracy. The District Court properly held that to the extent that *Davis* had created such a basis for jurisdiction, it had been overruled by Walden. The Nevada courts and the Ninth Circuit have never, in any event, endorsed finding personal jurisdiction based on a civil conspiracy. Mr. Tricarichi's conspiracy theory is also groundless because he knew or should have known his transaction

was tax fraud, and because he did not plead any jurisdictionally significant contacts with Nevada by any alleged conspirator.

The District Court's denial of jurisdictional discovery was a proper exercise of discretion. Despite having all the facts regarding his contacts with Rabobank and Utrecht, including full discovery from Rabobank and Utrecht in the Tax Court case, Mr. Tricarichi failed to make out a *prima facie* case for personal jurisdiction over Rabobank or Utrecht. He did not contend there was general jurisdiction over Rabobank or Utrecht. His discovery request was merely an application for a fishing license.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A dismissal for lack of personal jurisdiction is reviewed *de novo* when the facts are undisputed. *Dogra v. Liles*, 314 P.3d 952, 955 (Nev. 2013) (citing *Baker v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct.*, 999 P.2d 1020, 1023 (Nev. 2000)). Factual findings regarding personal jurisdiction issues are reviewed for clear error. *Id.* A district court's decision to deny discovery is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See Club Vista Fin. Servs., LLC v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct.*, 276 P.3d 246, 249 (Nev. 2012).

II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD IT LACKED PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER RABOBANK AND UTRECHT

A. Mr. Tricarichi Misstates the Applicable Standards

The standards applicable to this appeal support affirmance of the District Court's decision. Mr. Tricarichi substantially misstates those standards in his brief. (Br. at 31-32.) Mr. Tricarichi fails to note that under Nevada law, he has the burden of establishing that the court has a basis to assert personal jurisdiction over Rabobank and Utrecht. *Fulbright & Jaworski v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 342 P.3d 997, 1001 (Nev. 2015). Mr. Tricarichi was required to "satisfy the requirements of Nevada's long-arm statute and show that jurisdiction does not offend principles of due process." *Id.* Mr. Tricarichi also ignores the principle that the exercise of specific jurisdiction is proper "only where the cause of action arises from the defendant's contacts with the forum." *Id.* at 1002 (citations omitted).

Most importantly, Mr. Tricarichi fails to cite the standards established by the U.S. Supreme Court's recent decision in *Walden v. Fiore*, 134 S. Ct. 1115 (2014), which interpreted Nevada's long-arm statute and is dispositive here.

The Court in *Walden* held that in determining whether there is specific personal jurisdiction over a non-resident defendant, the inquiry "focuses on the relationship among the defendant, the forum, and the litigation." *Walden*, 134 S. Ct. at 1121 (internal quotation marks omitted). For specific jurisdiction to comport with due process, "the defendant's suit-related conduct must create a substantial

connection with the forum State." *Id.* Two aspects of this required relationship among Rabobank and Utrecht, Nevada and Mr. Tricarichi's claims are relevant here.

"First, the relationship must arise out of contacts that the 'defendant himself' creates with the forum State." *Id.* at 1122 (quoting *Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz*, 471 U.S. 462, 475 (1985)). "Due process limits on the State's adjudicative authority principally protect the liberty of the nonresident defendant—not the convenience of plaintiffs or third parties." *Id.* (citing *World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson*, 444 U.S. 286 at 291-92 (1980).) "[C]ontacts between the plaintiff (or third parties) and the forum State" do not suffice. *Id.* (citing *Helicopteros Nacionales de Colombia, S.A. v. Hall*, 466 U.S. 408, 417 (1984)). "Put simply, however significant the plaintiff's contacts with the forum may be, those contacts cannot be 'decisive in determining whether the defendant's due process rights are violated." *Id.* (quoting *Rush v. Savchuk*, 444 U.S. 320, 332 (1980)).

Second, the "minimum contacts' analysis looks to the defendant's contacts with the forum State itself, not the defendant's contacts with persons who reside there." *Id.* (citing *Int'l Shoe v. Washington*, 326 U.S. 310 at 319 (1945)). Thus, "the plaintiff cannot be the only link between the defendant and the forum." *Id.* at 1122. "Rather, it is the defendant's conduct that must form the necessary

connection with the forum State that is the basis for its jurisdiction over him." *Id.* at 1122-23 (citing *Burger King*, 471 U.S. at 478). "Due process requires that a defendant be haled into court in a forum State based on his own affiliation with the State, not based on the 'random, fortuitous, or attenuated' contacts he makes by interacting with other persons affiliated with the State." *Id.* at 1123 (citing *Burger King*, 471 U.S. at 475).

The same principles apply to intentional torts, as to which "it is likewise insufficient to rely on a defendant's 'random, fortuitous, or attenuated contacts' or on the 'unilateral activity' of a plaintiff." *Id.* (citation omitted). Therefore, "[a] forum State's exercise of jurisdiction over an out-of-state intentional tortfeasor must be based on intentional conduct by the defendant that creates the necessary contacts with the forum." *Id.*

B. Mr. Tricarichi Improperly Relies on His Own Nevada Contacts to Support Jurisdiction Over Rabobank and Utrecht

1. Walden Eliminated Effects-Based Jurisdiction

Mr. Tricarichi's reliance on Rabobank and Utrecht's purported knowledge that he resided in Nevada is fatal to his argument. The U.S. Supreme Court made clear in *Walden* that "the plaintiff cannot be the only link between the defendant and the forum. Rather, it is *the defendant's* conduct that must form the necessary connection with the forum State that is the basis for its jurisdiction over him....

[I]t is the defendant, not the plaintiff or third parties, who must create contacts with

the forum State." *Walden*, 134 S. Ct. at 1122, 1126 (emphasis added). Thus, Nevada jurisdiction over Rabobank and Utrecht must be based on acts by them that were purposefully directed at Nevada. As the *Walden* Court made clear, the minimum contacts analysis "looks to the defendant's contacts with the forum State itself, not the defendant's contacts with persons who reside there." *Id.* at 1122. Such contacts are utterly lacking here, as discussed *supra* in the Statement of Facts.

The Court in Walden reversed a finding of specific personal jurisdiction because the court below, instead of evaluating the defendant's own contacts with Nevada, mistakenly premised jurisdiction on the defendant's knowledge that the plaintiffs had connections with the forum. Id. at 1124. The Supreme Court held that the lower court had improperly "shift[ed] the analytical focus from [the defendant's] contacts with the forum to his contacts with [the plaintiffs]." *Id*. (citations omitted) (holding that "[s]uch reasoning improperly attributes a plaintiff's forum connections to the defendant and makes those connections 'decisive' in the jurisdictional analysis . . . [and] obscures the reality that none of petitioner's challenged conduct had anything to do with Nevada itself"). The Supreme Court found that the plaintiffs' reliance on Calder v. Jones, 465 U.S. 783 (1984)—a decision on which Mr. Tricarichi also relies here—for the argument that "they suffered the 'injury' caused by petitioner's allegedly tortious conduct . . . while they were residing in the forum" was "misplaced" because "Calder made

clear that mere injury to a forum resident is not a sufficient connection to the forum," and "[r]egardless of where a plaintiff lives or works, an injury is jurisdictionally relevant only insofar as it shows that the defendant has formed a contact with the forum State" through conduct that "connects him to the forum in a meaningful way." *Walden*, 134 S. Ct. at 1125.

2. Walden Fully Supports the District Court's Decision

The U.S. Supreme Court's decision in Walden fully supports the District Court's decision below. In *Walden*, as in this case, the defendant allegedly directed his conduct at plaintiffs whom he knew had a "significant connection" to Nevada. 134 S. Ct. at 1120, 1125. But the Walden Court held that the defendant's knowledge of this connection did not subject him to the jurisdiction of Nevada courts, because—like Rabobank and Utrecht—he had "never traveled to, conducted activities within, contacted anyone in, or sent anything or anyone to Nevada. In short, when viewed through the proper lens—whether the *defendant's* actions connect him to the *forum*—petitioner formed no jurisdictionally relevant contacts with Nevada." Id. at 1124. See also Picot v. Weston, 780 F.3d 1206, 1215 (9th Cir. 2015) (holding that because the plaintiff's injury was "not tethered to California in any meaningful way" but "entirely personal to him and would follow him wherever he might choose to live or travel," "[t]he effects of [the defendant's] actions are therefore not connected to the forum State in a way that

makes those effects a proper basis for jurisdiction.") (citing *Walden*, 134 S. Ct. at 1125) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

Mr. Tricarichi's attempt to distinguish *Walden* by asserting that unlike the defendant in that case, Rabobank, "knowing that Mr. Tricarichi resided in Nevada, purposefully reached out to [Mr. Tricarichi] on multiple occasions" is unavailing. (Br. at 36.) Mr. Tricarichi has not identified a single instance of Rabobank reaching out to Mr. Tricarichi in Nevada. (*See supra* at 5-7.)

3. The District Court's Decision is Consistent with Other Post-Walden Nevada Decisions

Numerous courts in Nevada have applied *Walden* to find personal jurisdiction lacking on facts also analogous to those alleged here. In *Zabeti v*. *Arkin*, No. 2:14-cv-00018 (GMN)(PAL), 2014 WL 3395991 (D. Nev. July 8, 2014), although the defendants knew that the plaintiff resided in Nevada and that the effects of their alleged actions would be felt there, the court ruled that it lacked personal jurisdiction over them, because "[s]imilar to the police officer in *Walden*, [the defendants'] only contact with Nevada is their alleged knowledge that their conduct in the Colorado Litigation would affect Plaintiff in Nevada. The U.S. Supreme Court's holding in *Walden* soundly forecloses Plaintiff's argument that this knowledge is sufficient to provide a basis for this Court to exercise jurisdiction over [the defendants]." *Zabeti*, 2014 WL 3395991, at *3. Similarly, in *Ponder v*. *Wild*, No. 2:16-CV-2305 (JCM)(PAL), 2017 WL 1536165 (D. Nev. Apr. 26, 2017)

the court, citing Walden, held that it lacked personal jurisdiction over a defendant who had entered into an agreement with a Nevada resident, because the asserted tort claims "deal[t] directly with the alleged oral contract. The alleged agreement, which took place in Switzerland, was for the sale of . . . a Swiss company, and in no way directly targeted Nevada. That [the plaintiff] is a Nevada resident and was injured is irrelevant to the appropriate personal jurisdiction analysis." *Id.* at *4 (citations omitted). See also *Poor Boy Prods. v. Fogerty*, No. 3:14-cv-00633 (RCJ)(VPC), 2015 WL 5057221 (D. Nev. Aug. 26, 2015); Bellagio, LLC v. Bellagio Car Wash & Express Lube, 116 F. Supp. 3d 1166 (D. Nev. 2015), motion for relief from judgment denied sub nom. Bellagio, LLC v. Bellagio Car Wash & Express Lube, No. 2:14-cv-1362 (JCM)(PAL), 2015 WL 7783534 (D. Nev. Dec. 3, 2015); Middleton v. Carrington Mortg. Servs. LLC, No. 2:15-cv-01977 (APG)(PAL), 2017 WL 834981, at *2 (D. Nev. Mar. 1, 2017).

4. Exobox Was Wrongly Decided and Is Inconsistent with Ninth Circuit Decisions

The only post-*Walden* Nevada case Mr. Tricarichi cites is *Exobox Techs*.

Corp. v. Tsambis, No. 2:14-cv-00501 (RFB)(VCF), 2015 WL 82886 (D. Nev. Jan. 6, 2015), which held that *Walden* had not overruled a line of Ninth Circuit cases adopting the "express aiming" theory of jurisdiction. *Exobox*, 2015 WL 82886, at *4 (citing *CollegeSource, Inc. v. AcademyOne, Inc.*, 653 F.3d 1066, 1077 (9th Cir.2011)).

But the Ninth Circuit has made clear that *Exobox* was wrongly decided, and has twice held that its pre-Walden "express aiming" jurisprudence is no longer good law. In Elghasen v. RBS Computer, Inc., 692 Fed. App'x 940 (Mem) (9th Cir. 2017), the only substantial suit-related contact that the plaintiff had alleged between the defendant bank and Nevada was that the defendant had misreported the credit information of the plaintiff, whom the defendant knew was a Nevada resident. The District Court dismissed the case for lack of personal jurisdiction, and the Ninth Circuit affirmed, declaring that even if the plaintiff had shown that the defendant knew he was a Nevada resident, "[Walden] establishes that this sort of contact is insufficient to establish personal jurisdiction." *Id.* at 941. In *Bixby v*. KBR, Inc., 603 F. App'x 605 (9th Cir. 2015), members of the Oregon National Guard asserted claims for fraud and negligence against a military contractor and its subsidiaries in connection with the operation of a water treatment plant in Iraq. The District Court found that the exercise of personal jurisdiction over the defendants was appropriate under the effects test in *Calder*, because the defendants "knew the persons to whom they intentionally directed their misrepresentations and failures to disclose were soldiers of the Oregon National Guard." *Id.* at 606. The Ninth Circuit reversed, holding that *Walden*, decided while the case was pending on appeal, compelled a different result: because the plaintiffs themselves

were "the only link between [the defendants] and Oregon," the defendant was not subject to personal jurisdiction in Oregon. *Id*.

Several other district courts in the Ninth Circuit have also disagreed with the decision in *Exobox. See Microsoft Corp. v. Mountain W. Computers, Inc.*, No. C14-1772 (RSM), 2015 WL 4479490, at *6 (W.D. Wash. July 22, 2015) (citing *Erickson v. Neb. Mach.*, No. 15-cv-01147 (JD), 2015 WL 4089849 (N.D. Cal. July 6, 2015) and *Under a Foot Plant, Co. v. Exterior Design, Inc.*, No. 6:14-cv-01371 (AA), 2015 WL 1401697 (D. Or. Mar. 24, 2015).⁴

5. The District Court's Decision is Consistent with Other Post-Walden Federal Appellate Decisions

Every other federal appellate court that has considered the issue since Walden has held that jurisdiction may not be based on an express aiming theory.

See Advanced Tactical Ordnance Sys., LLC v. Real Action Paintball, Inc., 751 F.3d

_

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